

CORPUS CHRISTI AREA CONVENTION & VISITORS BUREAU BYLAWS

ARTICLE I – ORGANIZATION

- 1. Name. Offices. The name of the corporation is Corpus Christi Area Convention & Visitors Bureau. The corporation is also authorized to do business under the name "Corpus Christi Convention & Visitors Bureau," or "Visit Corpus Christi." The corporation will be referred to as the "CCCVB" in this document. The CCCVB's offices will be located in the City of Corpus Christi.
- 2. <u>Mission.</u> The role of the CCCVB is to positively impact the city's economy by marketing the city as a travel destination. The board approved mission is to Create a better community by sharing Corpus Christi with the world.
- 3. <u>Fiscal Responsibility</u>. The fiscal year of the CCCVB is from October 1 to September 30. The Board of Directors will make lawful and adequate provisions for sound fiscal policies and practices of the CCCVB, including the approval of an annual budget and ample fidelity bonding of officers and employees entrusted with the handling of funds or property of the CCCVB, in accordance with state laws.
- 4. <u>Texas State and Federal Law</u>. The CCCVB is a non-profit corporation organized under the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act. The CCCVB has obtained from the Internal Revenue Service, and will continue to maintain, an exemption from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code.

ARTICLE II – BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 1. Composition. The affairs of the CCCVB shall be governed by a Board of Directors, which shall be composed of seventeen (17) members.
 - Fourteen (14) will be selected directly by the City Council of the City of Corpus Christi. The above members shall include persons from all areas of the City in order to assure diverse geographic representation on the Board. The members shall be representatives of the following groups:



Four (4) members from the lodging industry as follows:

- Two (2) from the Hotel Industry
- One (1) from the Lodging At-Large industry
- One (1) from the Short-Term Rental Industry
- Three (3) members from area attractions
- Five (5) members from the community at large
- Two (2) members from the restaurant industry

The following four (4) persons, or their designees or representatives, shall serve as additional voting members of the Board by virtue of position held:

- 1 Mayor of the City of Corpus Christi, or his or her designee
- 1 City Manager of the City of Corpus Christi or his or her designee
- 1 Director of Corpus Christi International Airport

The following persons or entities, or their designees or representatives, shall serve as additional non-voting members of the Board by virtue of position held:

- 1 State Representative from district 32 or his or her designee
- 1 State Representative from district 34 or his or her designee
- 1 Director of Regional Transportation Authority
- 1 President & CEO of Port of CC or his or her designee
- 1 President & CEO of CCREDC
- 1 General Manager of American Bank Center
- 1 Athletic Director of TAMU-CC
- 1 General Manager of Corpus Christi Hooks
- 1 Chair of the Corpus Christi Sports Commission Advisory Council
- 2. <u>Director Terms</u>. Appointments to the Board will be staggered, two-year terms beginning on October 1 each year. No person may serve as a voting member of the Board for a period longer than six years consecutively unless such service is required by virtue of the person's position or title or to complete an unexpired term. The CCCVB will make recommendations to the City Council for lodging, attraction and restaurant industry and community at-large



directors as directors' terms expire but the CCCVB always shall nominate one more individual as an alternate per category than the total number of positions available. Appointments will be made by City Council from the provided list with consideration of nominations by the CCCVB Nominations and Executive Committees and Board.

- 3. <u>Absences</u>. Unexcused absences from more than twenty-five percent of regularly scheduled meetings during a term year shall result in an automatic vacancy, which vacancy for lodging, attraction, restaurant industry and community at-large directors must be promptly reported to the City Council. An absence shall be unexcused unless excused by the Board, for good cause, no later than its next meeting after any absence. Any member, otherwise eligible, shall not be precluded from reappointment by reason of such automatic vacancy.
- 4. Representation. When any Director who was appointed to represent a business or industry segment is no longer employed in that industry segment for a period of 91 consecutive days or more, or if a Director otherwise fails to meet the qualifications prescribed by these Bylaws for serving as a Director, said Director shall forfeit his/her seat on the Board. Board of Director seats are non-transferrable. In the event of a Board of Director vacancy, the vacant seat may not be transferred to another individual from the vacating Board member's company or organization.
- 5. <u>Vacancies</u>. In the event that a Director forfeits his/her seat or otherwise resigns or vacates his or her position, the Chairman shall notify the City Secretary so that the City Council may appoint a replacement to the position for the appropriate industry segment. The Chairman (subject to ratification by the Board of Directors) shall then nominate persons to be presented to the City Council as a recommendation of potential candidates to fill the remainder of the unexpired term. The nominations shall always include one more individual than the number of vacant positions available.
- 6. <u>Meetings</u>. The Board of Directors shall meet regularly at a specified time and date selected by the Board of Directors. A majority of the Directors must be present at a regular or special Board meeting to constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business.
- 7. <u>Qualifications</u>. Each Director elected to represent the lodging industry, the restaurant industry, or area attractions must be an owner, operator, or officer in his or her organization at the time of his or her nomination and throughout his or her term as a Director
- 8. <u>Voting</u>. All Board action shall be taken only upon formal vote of the Directors at a duly constituted meeting of the Board. A majority vote of the Directors must be present at a duly constituted meeting at which a quorum is present will constitute an



act of the Board.

ARTICLE III – OFFICERS

- 1. <u>Elections</u>. Officers of the Board may be elected by the September meeting for the new fiscal year. Officers will be: Chairman, Vice Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. Each officer shall be a member of the Board prior to the election. Officers shall serve for a term of one year, or until the Board of Directors elects officers for the succeeding fiscal year.
- 2. <u>Vacancies</u>. In the event of the resignation of an elected officer of the Board, or in the event of forfeiture of the elected officer's seat as provided in Article III above, or in the event of the death or permanent disability of an elected officer, the Chairman (subject to ratification by the board of Directors) shall appoint a member of the Board to the vacated office to serve the remainder of the unexpired term.
- 3. <u>Chairman</u>. The Chairman will preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. He or she will have and exercise general charge and supervision of affairs of the CCCVB, subject to the direction of the Board. The Chairman will appoint persons to chair all standing and ad hoc committees established by these Bylaws or the Board of Directors.
- 4. <u>Vice Chair</u>. At the request of the Chairman, or in the event of the Chairman's absence or disability, the Vice Chairman will perform the duties and possess and exercise the powers of the Chair.
- 5. <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary will ensure that the records of the CCCVB are properly kept. The Secretary will ensure that minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee of the CCCVB are recorded.
- 6. <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer will ensure that all funds, property and securities of the CCCVB are properly kept, subject to any regulations imposed by the Board of Directors and will review the travel expense accounts of the President. The Treasurer shall ensure that an annual audited financial statement is prepared. The Treasurer shall preside at Board meetings in the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair.
- 7. <u>President/CEO</u>. The Board of Directors shall employ a President/CEO, whose duties, performance review and compensation will be outlined in an employment contract between the CCCVB and the President/CEO. The President/CEO shall be the principal executive officer of the CCCVB. The President/CEO shall be administratively responsible to the Executive Committee, and shall serve as an exofficio non-voting member of the Board of Directors and all committees.



ARTICLE IV – COMMITTEES

1. <u>General</u>. The Board of Directors may establish such committees from time to time it deems necessary for the operation of the CCCVB. The Chairman shall appoint the members of each committee.

ARTICLE V - MEETINGS

- 1. <u>Regular Meetings</u>. The Board shall conduct regular meetings according to a schedule adopted by the Board.
- 2. <u>Special Meetings</u>. The Chairman or any five (5) Directors may request that the Secretary call a special meeting of the Board. The Secretary shall provide at least seventy-two (72) hours written notice of any such special meeting. At the discretion of the Board, joint meetings with other groups may be arranged for discussion of any subject or other activity which may be of mutual benefit and interest.
- 3. <u>Rules of Procedure</u>. The Board of Directors may approve rules of procedure to govern the conduct of its meetings, which will not require City Council approval.

ARTICLE VI – FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

- 1. <u>Indemnification</u>. The CCCVB shall indemnify and save harmless each present and former officer and Director against all claims, liabilities, losses and expenses in connection with any cause of action or claim asserted against him/her arising from or connected in any way with his/her service to the CCCVB to the fullest extent authorized by the laws of the state of Texas with regard to non-profit corporations. No further action or authorization of the Board of Directors shall be necessary to affect such indemnification, except to the extent required by law. The CCCVB may, in its sole discretion, purchase and maintain insurance or another arrangement, at its
 - expense, to protect itself and any director, officer, employee or agent of the CCCVB or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any expense, liability or loss, whether or not the CCCVB would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under Texas law.
- 2. <u>Audit</u>. The Board of Directors shall annually select a certified public accountant to supply an independent audit of the CCCVB books, and such audit shall be made available to members of the Board.



These bylaws may be amended at any regular meeting by a vote of two-thirds of all the Directors, provided that notice of such proposed amendment(s) shall have been sent to each Director at least 72 hours before such meeting. Any changes to the bylaws must be presented to the City Manager for review at least two weeks prior to the adoption of the bylaws by the Board of Directors. The City Manager may reasonably object to changes that are not consistent with this Agreement prior to the Board meeting for approval of the changes. The changes to the bylaws will be effective upon approval of the Board of Directors and City Council.

With Amendments Approved by Board of Directors on December 15, 2022.

Respectfully submitted by Secretary

Blanche Candelaria - Morris
Blanche Candelaria - Morris (Mar 27, 2023 08:46 CDT)

Signature

Mar 27, 2023

Date

VCC Bylaws - Council Approved 2-21-23

Final Audit Report 2023-03-27

Created: 2023-03-24

By: Mary Herrera (mary@visitcorpuschristi.com)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAArBGfWhaG2f7Mqi4JJ-u7v-H3vl1mHsXq

"VCC Bylaws - Council Approved 2-21-23" History

- Document created by Mary Herrera (mary@visitcorpuschristi.com) 2023-03-24 6:44:57 PM GMT
- Document emailed to bcmorris@omnihotels.com for signature 2023-03-24 6:45:47 PM GMT
- Email viewed by bcmorris@omnihotels.com 2023-03-27 1:46:10 PM GMT
- Signer bcmorris@omnihotels.com entered name at signing as Blanche Candelaria-Morris 2023-03-27 1:46:43 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Blanche Candelaria-Morris (bcmorris@omnihotels.com)
 Signature Date: 2023-03-27 1:46:45 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to Brett Oetting (brett@visitcorpuschristi.com) for approval 2023-03-27 1:46:46 PM GMT
- Email viewed by Brett Oetting (brett@visitcorpuschristi.com)
 2023-03-27 2:10:15 PM GMT
- Document approved by Brett Oetting (brett@visitcorpuschristi.com)

 Approval Date: 2023-03-27 2:11:06 PM GMT Time Source: server
- Agreement completed. 2023-03-27 - 2:11:06 PM GMT

Names and email addresses are entered into the Acrobat Sign service by Acrobat Sign users and are unverified unless otherwise noted.